IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

DA 23-0124

CRAIG BAUGH

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

H2S2, LLC, a Montana Limited Liability Company,

Defendant and Appellant,

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

On Appeal from the Montana Eleventh Judicial District Court, Flathead County,
The Honorable Amy Poehling Eddy, Presiding.

Donald R. Murray
HASH, O'BRIEN, BIBY & MURRAY PLLP
Attorneys at Law
136 First Avenue West
P.O. Box 1178
Kalispell, MT 59901
PH | (406) 755-6919
dmurray@hashlaw.com

Leah K. Corrigan, Esq.
MOFFETT & CORRIGAN LLP
350 East Broadway
P.O. Box 4797
Jackson, WY 83001
PH | (307) 733-8734
lkc@moffettcorriganlaw.com

*Attorneys for Defendant and
Appellant*

MICHELLE WEINBERG

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the District Court err in denying H2S2’s *Motion for Partial Summary Judgment* and granting summary judgment to Baugh on the nature, scope, and permissible uses of the easement?
2. Did the District Court abuse its discretion in applying the *Foy* exception when granting Appellee Baugh attorney fees for his defense of Appellant H2S2’s amended counterclaims after granting summary judgment on those counterclaims when the material facts were disputed?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter is a dispute between two parties to an express easement that accesses recreational lodging property in Whitefish.

Appellant/Defendant H2S2, LLC, is a Montana limited liability company with four individual members who are residents of Whitefish: Tim Stidham, Maura Hamilton, Kelly Schmidt, and Mindy Hamilton (hereinafter “H2S2”).

H2S2 is the owner of a twenty-acre parcel of land outside of Whitefish, upon which the four members were operating a recreational vacation rental business known as BaseGlamp. Appellee/Plaintiff Craig Baugh (hereinafter “Baugh”) is an individual residing in a rural area outside of Whitefish. His property is burdened by an easement serving the property owned by H2S2.

On July 9, 2021, Baugh filed a complaint against H2S2, and applied for a temporary restraining order (TRO) prohibiting H2S2 or its invitees from accessing BaseGlamp across the easement. (Doc. 1). A hearing was held and Exhibits 1-13 were entered into evidence. (Exhibits Binder).

The District Court initially granted but then dissolved the TRO, concluding after a hearing as follows:

The grant of an easement for ‘access’ is specific. Woods, ¶14. Accordingly, the Court need not look to intrinsic [sic] evidence to determine the scope of the easement. . .The easement does not include a restriction for only residential access. Accordingly, the Court will not insert such a restriction. Woods, ¶14.

(Doc. 16, ¶¶6-7).

Subsequent to the hearing on the TRO, Baugh filed his First Amended Complaint on August 9, 2021 (Doc. 19), and on October 12, 2021, H2S2 answered and filed counterclaims. (Doc. 27). After a period of discovery, H2S2 amended its counterclaims on June 13, 2022, to include, in relevant part, counterclaims of tortious interference, civil conspiracy, and exemplary or punitive damages. (Doc.

51). Discovery and motions practice continued, including multiple filings by both parties related to discovery. (Docs. 81, 108, 121, 129).

On August 5, 2022, H2S2 filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, seeking summary judgment on Baugh's claim for declaratory judgment that H2S2 overburdened the easement. (Doc. 66). The following supporting evidentiary materials were filed:

1. Exhibits 1-11, (Doc. 67).
2. Request for Judicial Notice, (Doc. 68).
3. Request for Judicial Site Viewing, (Doc. 69).
4. Affidavit of H2S2, (Doc. 71).
5. Affidavit of Brent Foley, PE, (Doc.72).
6. Affidavit of Kathleen McMahon, (Doc. 73).
7. Declaration of Donald Murray, (Doc. 74).

Also on August 5, 2022, Baugh filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, seeking summary judgment on his claim for declaratory judgment and injunctive relief regarding H2S2's use of the easement, on his claim for trespass, and on H2S2's claims for wrongful issuance of a temporary restraining order, intentional interference with prospective business advantage, and civil conspiracy. (Doc. 65).

On November 9, the District Court heard oral arguments on the cross-motions for summary judgment. Respondent's (H2S2's) Exhibit 12, which was Baugh's own traffic counts on the easement for a period of 404 days (from July 30, 2021 to October 28, 2022), was marked at the hearing. (Doc. 131).

Also on November 9, 2022, the District Court entered an Order Re: Motions for Summary Judgment, denying H2S2's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, and granting in part Baugh's Motion for Summary Judgment. (Doc 129). The District Court's reasoning was a sharp departure from its earlier determination that the easement was specific in nature, that consideration of extrinsic evidence was not appropriate, and that use of the easement would not be restricted to residential purposes. (Doc 16, ¶¶6-7). This Order enjoined H2S2 from accessing BaseGlamp but left unresolved the question of the scope of the easement. (Doc. 129, p. 12).

On December 2, 2022, Baugh filed a Motion for Award of Attorney Fees and Costs, (Doc. 142, hereinafter "Motion for Fees") which was fully briefed prior to the Court's order granting Baugh's Motion for Fees. (Docs. 150, 155, 166).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

From 1993 to 2019, Baugh owned two contiguous parcels of land that were approximately 20 acres each. (Doc. 65, pp. 41, 43). In 2006, Baugh completed a boundary line adjustment with Flathead County, rotating his two parcels of land and creating access for the parcel of land that was not the site of his residence. (Doc. 65, p. 30, ¶ 4). At the time the easement that is the subject of this case was designated and built, Baugh owned both parcels. (*Id.*). The newly configured parcels and associated access to Tract 2 over Tract 1 (the parcel Baugh ultimately retained) was reflected in Certificate of Survey 17458 (hereinafter "COS"). (Doc. 24.10, Ex. 1).

The easement across Tract 1 to serve Tract 2 (hereinafter the “easement”) was described in standard terms on the COS as follows: a “20’ wide access and utility easement on existing road.” (Exhibit Binder (TRO hearing), Baugh’s Exhibit 1). The easement only serves Tract 2, it is not a shared road. Baugh designated the easement on the 2006 COS, and did not restrict the nature, manner, method, or type of access permissible on the easement. (Id.). Nor did he impose covenants or other restrictions on Tract 2 during the intervening fourteen years prior to selling Tract 2. Baugh indicated that while he understood that the easement designation was unrestricted as described in the COS, that he knew he could add restrictions later when he sold the property. Despite this understanding, he chose not to restrict the easement when he sold Tract 2. (Doc. 67.10, Ex.8, p.8).

In 2019, Baugh listed Tract 2 for sale on Zillow, without the assistance of a realtor. (Doc. 65, p.32, ¶ 12). He marketed it as having the potential for building an “extended family compound” or horse property (Id.; Doc 67, Ex. 2). It was purchased by Florian Skyland via warranty deed on October 1, 2019. (Exhibit Binder (TRO hearing), Baugh’s Exhibit 1). The warranty deed reflected and conveyed the easement for access and utilities using language identical to the easement designation on the COS. (Id.) Skyland converted the existing barn on the property to a single-family residence. (Doc. 65, p.32, ¶ 13).

In the fall of 2020, Skyland notified Baugh that he was selling Tract 2. (Doc. 67.10, Ex. 9). Baugh responded via email, asking Skyland to place covenants or restrictions to limit the permissible uses of the property. Skyland did not place covenants or restrictions on the property or upon the easement. (Id.).

During the fall of 2020, H2S2 viewed the property, undertook significant due diligence to determine if their plan to construct recreational vacation rentals on the property would be permissible, including determining that the easement of record was unrestricted. (Doc. 71, ¶¶1, 2). On October 7, 2020, approximately one year after the conveyance to Skyland that created the easement, H2S2 purchased Tract 2.

Baugh and other area neighbors became aware of H2S2's plans and objected. H2S2's attempts to resolve the neighbors' concerns were not fruitful, and a group of neighbors came together to fund litigation against H2S2 to be instituted by Baugh. (Doc. 148.01 pp. 142, ln. 13 – 143 ln. 9).

Baugh filed the present lawsuit on July 9, 2021. (Doc. 1).

Throughout 2021, until opening for business on August 1, 2022, H2S2 worked to construct geodesic domes and associated infrastructure on the property for nightly rental. (Doc. 121.1, ¶¶1, 2). H2S2 began renting the domes to recreational visitors in August 2022. (Id.). During the period of construction and for the first three months H2S2 was open, Baugh kept track of the number of vehicles traveling on the easement and other alleged impacts. His counts indicated between 7.9 and 8.2 trips

per day during the time H2S2 was open. (Doc. 124.1, Ex. 3; Doc 131; Defendant's Exhibit 12). During the time Baseglamp was open and H2S2 was renting domes, it counted trips on the easement generated by renters, and counted between 6.1 and 11.5 trips per day during the construction and brief period of operation of Baseglamp. Both parties' counts reflected a daily vehicle traffic count that is approximately equivalent to the average traffic from a single-family residence.¹ (Doc 71, ¶ 13; 126, ¶ 2).

Baugh's other observed impacts upon the easement over the period Baseglamp was under construction and then in use were: Between 3 and 5 accidental trespasses by business invitees of H2S2; two pieces of litter; increased dust; a burn pile outside of the easement confines set by a contractor; and an alleged increase in noxious weeds² that could have been caused by traffic on the easement. (Exhibit Binder (TRO hearing), Baugh's Exhibit 9). Doc. 65, pp. 34-36, ¶¶ 19, 32, 37; Doc 143.10 Ex. 7).

¹ Pursuant to ITE Trip Generation Manual relied upon by both parties' traffic experts, the daily trips associated with a single-family residence is 9.4. (Doc 67.10, Ex 7, p. 2).

² In a May 26, 2022 email from Baugh to Tim Stidham responding to Tim's offer to spray noxious weeds on Baugh's property outside the easement, Baugh stated: "I have walked the easement and found only three noxious weeds. One Knapweed and two Hawkweed, I have flagged them. (Doc 143.10 Ex 6). Baugh's subsequent affidavit paints a more dramatic picture of the increase in noxious weeds. (Doc. 65, p. 37, ¶ 37, 40).

The easement in question travels over Tract 1 at a significant distance from Baugh's residence. (Doc 235, Ex. 10; (Exhibit Binder (TRO hearing), Baugh's Exhibit 9).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Summary judgment rulings are subject to de novo review for conformance with applicable Mont. R. Civ. P. 56 standards and requirements.” *Kostelecky v. Peas in a Pod LLC*, 2022 MT 195, 410 Mont. 239, 256, 518 P.3d 840, 851 (citing *Dick Anderson Constr., Inc. v. Monroe Prop. Co.*, 2011 MT 138, ¶ 16, 361 Mont. 30, 255 P.3d 1257).

A district court's ruling on a summary-judgment motion is not a discretionary function which merits deferential review. Rather, summary judgment requires district courts to make a series of legal conclusions regarding the applicable law, the reasonable inferences to be drawn from the evidence in favor of the non-movant, and the application of law to the undisputed facts and reasonable inferences of fact. Such conclusions are either correct or incorrect as a matter of law. Therefore, in the context of summary judgment, a decision to categorically exclude certain evidence from consideration is not a discretionary function akin to admitting or excluding evidence at trial. Rather, this determination is a conclusion of law which we must review de novo, just as we review all other aspects of the decision to grant summary judgment.

Lorang v. Fortis Ins. Co., 2008 MT 252, ¶53, 345 Mont. 12, 25, 192 P.3d 186, 197–98 (*citations omitted*). All reasonable inferences that may be drawn from the evidence must be drawn in favor of the party opposing summary judgment. *Id.*

“A district court’s decision to award or deny attorney fees and costs under the equitable exception first announced in *Foy v. Anderson*, 176 Mont. 507, 511-12, 580 P.2d 114, 116-17 (1978), ‘is within [its] discretion and will not be overturned absent a showing of abuse of discretion.’” *Egan Slough Cmty. v. Flathead Cty. Bd. of Cty. Comm'rs*, 2022 MT 57, ¶17, 408 Mont. 81, 93, 506 P.3d 996, 1005 (quoting *Rafes v. McMillan*, 2022 MT 13, ¶16, 407 Mont. 254, 502 P.3d 674).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court erred when it granted summary judgment to Baugh on his claims that the easement was overburdened and denied summary judgment to H2S2 on its claim for declaratory judgment that the easement could be used to access Baseglamp. The Court misapplied Montana law by disregarding the unambiguous language of the easement – a “20’ access and utility easement on existing road” - in favor of a restriction on commercial use. The Court considered extrinsic evidence of the grantor’s intent and surrounding circumstances, which was contrary to this Court’s holdings that, absent an ambiguity, an express easement must be enforced as written. The express easement was not limited or restricted in any way, and the Court should have concluded that the easement could be used for any purpose not contrary to the general purpose expressed, including for access to a recreational lodging property. H2S2’s use of the easement could not have overburdened the

easement as a matter of law. The District Court's conclusions to the contrary were based not on the evidence, but on speculation of future burden.

In the alternative, the District Court improperly disregarded admissible evidence that demonstrated Baseglamp would not overburden the easement. The District Court made several errors of law, excluding entire categories of H2S2's evidence of actual and future burden. The admissible evidence before the Court demonstrated that there would not be a substantial increase in the burden on the easement beyond what would be expected in any residential development allowable on the property. The District Court's erroneous evidentiary rulings, mistakes of fact, and failure to draw all reasonable inferences from the evidence in H2S2's favor resulted in a grant of summary judgment to Baugh that was contrary to law.

The District Court abused its discretion in awarding attorney fees to Baugh under the *Foy* equitable exception to the American Rule, because the particular facts and circumstances intended and required for the rare and limited application of the *Foy* exception plainly do not exist here. The District Court should not have granted summary judgment on the claims underlying its ruling. Moreover, Baugh, the Plaintiff/Appellee, initiated this litigation with the backing of at least thirteen litigation funders. Baugh is not an innocent party and was not forced to hire an attorney and expend fees to defend himself in a circumstance devoid of his

connection. The *Foy* exception does not apply, and the District Court's award of attorney fees to Baugh was an abuse of its discretion.

ARGUMENT

I. The District Court Erred in Determining That the Easement was “General” in Nature and Therefore Improperly Resorted to Consideration of Extrinsic Evidence to Determine the Scope of the Easement.

A. The Easement was Specific and Unambiguous and Should Only Have Been Interpreted Within the Four Corners of the Grant.

An easement that is created by written instrument is considered an express easement. *Woods v. Shannon*, 2015 MT 76, ¶10, 378 Mont. 365, 368, 344 P.3d 413, 416. The scope of an express easement is determined by the terms of the grant. *Id.* (citing Mont. Code Ann. § 70–17–106; *Clark v. Pennock*, 2010 MT 192, ¶25, 357 Mont. 338, 239 P.3d 922). “If an easement is specific in nature, the breadth and scope of the easement are *strictly determined* by the actual terms of the grant.” *Woods*, ¶10 (*emphasis in original*) (citing *Clark*, ¶25).

In 2019, this Court explicitly held that “if the originating conveyance expressed the intended purpose or use of the easement in specific terms, such as for ingress/egress, access, or roadway purposes, the permissible scope of use must be determined from the specified terms without resort to extrinsic evidence.” *O’Keefe v. Mustang Ranches HOA*, 2019 MT 179, ¶29, 396 Mont. 454, 470, 446 P.3d 509, 520 (citing *Woods*, ¶14); *Clark*, ¶ 27.

Here, the easement language at issue was designated by Baugh in 2006, appearing on a COS prepared for the purposes of creating two separate tracts of land,

both owned by Baugh. (Doc. 65, Ex.4) The easement was designated across Tract 1, to benefit Tract 2, which otherwise would not have had access. The easement designated by Baugh and depicted on the COS unambiguously reads: “a 20’ wide access and utility easement on existing road.” (Id.).

There is no dispute regarding the location of the “existing road,” or regarding the width of the easement. (Doc. 148.1, p.37 ln. 12- p.41 ln. 25). Thus, the sole remaining term the District Court was tasked with interpreting was: “access and utility easement.” This Court has repeatedly held that the word “access” used within an express grant of easement is not an ambiguous term. *O’Keefe*, ¶9 (citing *Woods*, ¶14).

“The mere fact that the parties disagree as to the meaning of a contract provision fails to create an ambiguity.” *Peters v. Hubbard*, 2020 MT 282, ¶15, 402 Mont. 71, 77–78, 475 P.3d 730, 736 (*internal citations omitted*). The “[l]anguage of a contract is ‘ambiguous only if susceptible to two or more conflicting meanings, both of which are objectively reasonable.’” *Kapor v. RJC Inv., Inc.*, 2019 MT 41, ¶26, 394 Mont. 311, 324, 434 P.3d 869, 877.

In affirming a district court’s refusal to consider extrinsic evidence in an express easement case, this Court rejected the appellant’s contention that the following grant of easement was ambiguous: “[a]n easement in an existing road for

ingress and egress to Lot 12...,” which particularly described the location and dimensions of the easement. *Woods*, ¶13. The *Woods* Court continued:

Under factual circumstances similar to those presented here, we have previously treated easements granted for the purpose of ‘ingress and egress’ as specific in nature. *Clark*, ¶27 (reversing district court determination that easement for ingress and egress was ambiguous, and concluding ‘that the easement language specifically creates a road easement’; *McCauley v. Thompson–Nistler*, 2000 MT 215, ¶49, 301 Mont. 81, 10 P.3d 794 (concluding scope of easement for ingress and egress was to be ‘determined upon the actual terms of the grant,’ and could not be limited by district court); *Mason*, ¶43 (concluding easement granting access over existing roadways for ingress and egress was ‘sufficiently specific in nature that the terms of the grant are decisive of the limits of the servitude’)...

Id., ¶14.

This Court’s holding in *Woods* is consistent with well-established limits on the judiciary’s role in resolving disputes involving written contracts. When interpreting a written instrument, the Court’s role is “simply to ascertain and declare what is in terms or in substance contained therein, not to insert what has been omitted[.]” Mont. Code Ann. § 1-4-101. In 2020, this Court again affirmed these fundamental, well-understood limits to interpreting unambiguous easements: “If the language of a contract is reasonably susceptible to only one interpretation, the duty of the court is simply to apply the language as written.” *Peters*, ¶15.

This Court’s refusal to accept invitations to “insert what has been omitted” from an easement is consistent with a critically important public policy – the public’s reliance on written property conveyances:

As we have said, good-faith purchasers of real property are entitled to rely on publicly recorded deeds, plats, and certificates of survey pertaining to the subject property to disclose accurately all encumbrances, easements, and impediments thereon; they are not required to track down unrecorded extrinsic evidence in order to ascertain the use or necessity of a purported easement depicted on a plat or certificate of survey in their chain of title. Requiring subsequent purchasers to investigate not only their chain of title but also the ‘context’ within which each conveyance in the chain was executed ‘would be an impractical burden, perhaps an impossible one, and would virtually destroy the utility of the real estate recording system.’

Broadwater Dev., L.L.C. v. Nelson, 2009 MT 317, ¶¶19-22, 352 Mont. 401, 409–11, 219 P.3d 492, 500–01 (internal citations omitted; quoting *Olson v. Trippel*, 77 Wash.App. 545, 893 P.2d 634, 639 (Div. 2 1995)). The public policy that underpins this Court’s recognition that good faith purchasers of real estate have the right to rely on unambiguous grants of easement is also evident in its holdings refusing to insert terms in a written instrument that could have been inserted by the grantor but were not. *See e.g., Van Hook v. Jennings*, 1999 MT 198, ¶14, 295 Mont. 409, 413, 983 P.2d 995, 998 (“Had the Lelands intended to include all roads then in existence within the scope of their right of way, they could easily have done so by drafting the reservation of rights to read ‘rights of way’ over ‘existing private roads.’ This they did not do.”).

Here, the language of the easement is clear and unambiguous. It allows for the dominant tenement owner to access their property and provide utilities to the

property along an existing roadway (“access and utility easement on existing road”). (Doc. 65, Ex.4).

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