IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 23-0124

---

CRAIG BAUGH,

Plaintiff and Appellee

v.

H2S2 LLC, a Montana Limited Liability Company,

Defendant and Appellant,

---

**APPELLEE'S RESPONSE BRIEF**

---

On appeal from the Montana Eleventh Judicial District Court, Flathead  
County, Montana  
Cause No. DV-21-754A

---

APPEARANCES:

Lindsey W. Hromadka  
Michelle T. Weinberg  
WEINBERG & HROMADKA, PLLC  
P.O. Box 652  
Whitefish, MT 59937  
Telephone: (406) 730-2988  
michelle@whlawmt.com  
lindsey@whlawmt.com

*Attorneys for Plaintiff/Appellee*

Donald R. Murray  
HASH, O'BRIEN, BIBY & MURRAY PLLP  
136 First Ave West  
Kalispell, MT 59901  
Telephone (406) 755-6919

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

1. *The Easement is general in nature with respect to whether H2S2 and members of the general public can use the Easement to access BaseGlamp.*

Relying on this Court’s holdings in *Guthrie*, *Ganoung*, *Caltabiano*, *Quarter Circle*, and *Leffingwell Ranch*, the District Court properly determined that the scope

---

5. *Compare* Doc. 132, p. 11. (finding the easement general and not specific “for the purposes of this particular question”).

6. *Compare, e.g.*, Doc. 132, p. 5-6 (describing expert opinions of traffic impacts), 12, n. 5.

of grant for “access and utility” is written in general terms for the purpose of determining whether H2S2 can use the Easement for access to its commercial lodging campground. (Doc. 132, p.11)

In *Quarter Circle*, an access easement for “ingress and egress” on an existing trail or roadway “for the purpose of conducting farming and ranching operations and activities” was found to be general for the purposes of determining whether the easement could be used for residential use. *Quarter Circle*, ¶¶ 2-3, 12-14. The Court found that because the easement did not contain language expressly indicating that the parties intended the existing road to support residential use, the use of the existing road “for residential purposes is not strictly determined by the actual terms of the grant, [and thus] the easement is not ‘specific’ for purposes of this particular question.” *Id.*

Here, as in *Quarter Circle*, the Easement does not contain express language indicating whether the original parties to Easement intended the existing road to support H2S2’s use as a commercial lodging campground. Therefore, the District Court correctly determined that the easement is not specific for the purposes of this particular question.

This Court’s holdings in *Guthrie*, *Ganoung*, *Caltabiano*, and *Leffingwell Ranch* are likewise controlling here. In *Guthrie*, this Court found that an “unrestricted” easement for “access” was general and not specific for the purposes

of determining whether it was intended for primary and secondary access for further residential development. *Guthrie*, ¶ 49. Relevant to the Court’s holding was the fact that the appellants “failed to offer any evidence whatsoever” to show that their proposed use “was ever used or was ever intended to be used” as they claimed. *Id.*, ¶ 32. The Court also noted that the overall tone of the dominant estate in attempting to change the use of the easement was “characterized as cavalierly telling rather than courteously informing, or asking for permission to maintain, improve upon, or expand the easement in question.” *Id.*, ¶ 35.

The *Guthrie* Court held:

The deed at issue here is clearly one of a general nature in terms of scope. It merely provides that it would provide “access to the property agreed to be bought and sold” via a “presently situated road” that was perhaps 14 feet in width. Indeed, we agree with Appellants that the easement *was* unrestricted--rather than restricted by specific particulars regarding scope--and therefore the intended purpose, the use of the easement by its owners, as well as the general surrounding circumstances, must be accounted for where the scope is controverted by the parties.

*Id.*, ¶ 49. H2S2’s contention that the District Court’s consideration of historical use was improper to determine scope is a clear misunderstanding of the law. As in *Guthrie*, the Easement here is “unrestricted--rather than restricted by specific particulars regarding scope--and therefore the intended purpose, the use of the easement by its owners, as well as the general surrounding circumstances, must be accounted for” since “the scope is controverted” by Baugh and H2S2. *Id.*

In *Ganoung*, the Court determined that the scope of an “easement for access” was general for the purposes of determining whether the easement could be used to develop a subdivision when, historically, it had been used to access properties that had been held by the same family “for the common purposes of horse pasture, hunting, and recreation.” *Ganoung*, ¶¶ 16, 20-22. In *Caltabiano*, this Court also found that an easement for “access and utilities” was ambiguous and that the District Court properly relied on extrinsic evidence to determine whether the dominant estate, a church, could use the Easement for an additional point of ingress/egress. *Caltabiano*, ¶¶ 12-13, 30, 34-35.

Finally, in *Leffingwell Ranch*, this Court interpreted two “ingress and egress” easements and held that a developer could not use the easement to access its subdivision development because, historically, the “easements have never been used to access more than two or three homesteads and have only been employed for related agricultural purposes.” *Leffingwell Ranch*, 276 Mont. at 431, 916 P.2d at 757. Here, as in *Leffingwell Ranch*, based on historical use, H2S2 also cannot use the Easement to access its commercial campground development because the Easement has never been used to access more than one single-family home and it has only been employed for rural residential purposes. (Doc. 132, pp. 11-12)

Like *Guthrie*, *Ganoung*, *Caltabiano*, and *Leffingwell Ranch*, the Easement here is general for the purposes of determining whether it was intended for access to

BaseGlamp because “the language of the easement here contains no express language indicating whether the parties intended” the two-track, narrow road to be used to support a commercial campground/lodging facility. *Quarter Circle*, ¶ 12; see *Leffingwell Ranch*, 276 Mont. at 431. Additionally, as in *Caltabiano*, H2S2 received a title insurance policy that referenced the “sanitary restrictions...easements...contained or referred to on Certificate of Survey No. 17458” and excluded it from coverage at the time of H2S2’s purchase of Tract 2. *Caltabiano*, ¶ 12; (Doc. 65.07, Ex. 34, p. 6).

Therefore, H2S2 was on notice of the Easement’s existence, but failed to accept the obvious – that a 20’ wide easement on an existing two-track road less than 14’ wide and historically used to access a single-family residence in a remote, rural, residential area would not support the change in use H2S2 sought for BaseGlamp. Like *Guthrie*, H2S2’s decision not to tell Baugh about their development plans or “mess with [Baugh’s] side too much until we need to” can also be characterized as a secretive and cavalier attempt to change the use of and expand the Easement without Baugh’s permission.

While H2S2 attempts to rely on this Court’s holding in *Broadwater Dev., L.L.C. v. Nelson*, 2009 MT 317, ¶ 1, 352 Mont. 401, 219 P.3d 492 and *Van Hook v. Jennings*, 1999 MT 198, 295 Mont. 409, 983 P.2d 995, these cases are inapplicable. In *Broadwater* and *Van Hook*, the Court considered whether an easement was valid

and enforceable, which is not the question presented here. *Broadwater*, ¶¶ 1, 21 (citing *Blazer v. Wall*, 2008 MT 145, 343 Mont. 173, 183 P.3d 84);<sup>7</sup> *Van Hook*, ¶¶ 1, 5.

This Court’s precedent dictates that where a particular question is presented by the parties regarding the breadth and scope of an easement general in its terms, the court must consider “the situation of the property, surrounding circumstances, and historical use.” *Quarter Circle*, ¶¶ 12-13, 15. Therefore, the District Court properly and clearly determined that that Easement was general in nature. (Doc. 132, p. 11) The District Court then properly considered the situation of the properties, surrounding circumstances, and historical use to determine that H2S2’s use was not within the scope of the Easement. (Doc. 132, pp. 11-12)

*2. The cases relied upon by H2S2 do not apply here because the question presented here is not whether a subdivision owner may use all the roads in the subdivision for ingress and egress.*

H2S2 relies on another line of inapplicable cases concerning the scope of interior, platted subdivision roads with restrictive covenants, which do not apply to the particular question presented here. *O’Keefe v. Mustang Ranches HOA*, 2019 MT

---

7. Of course, even in *Broadwater*, the Court stated that “evidence of the surrounding circumstances, including the situation of the property and the context of the parties’ agreement, may be shown so that the judge is placed in the position of those whose language the judge is to interpret.” *Id.*, ¶ 22.

179, 396 Mont. 454, 446 P.3d 509, *Clark v. Pennock*, 2010 MT 192, 357 Mont. 338, 239 P.3d 922; *Woods v. Shannon*, 2015 MT 76, 378 Mont. 365, 344 P 3d 413.

In *O'Keefe*, the issue presented was whether subdivision lot owners in the Mustang Ranches Subdivision could block the use of one of the subdivision's residential roadway easements to the exclusion of other Mustang Ranch lot owners, thereby preventing access to off-plat adjoining public lands. *O'Keefe*, ¶¶ 11, 15. The Court concluded that, pursuant to the subdivision plat, protective covenants, and deeds, the disputed roadway benefitted the other subdivision lot owners for ingress and egress to and from the adjoining public land. *O'Keefe*, ¶ 30. The Court held that "individuals entitled to use an express easement include the dominant estate owner, family, tenants, and other expressly or implicitly authorized invitees,"<sup>8</sup> but not the general public. *O'Keefe*, ¶¶ 29, 33 (citing *Woods*, ¶ 15).

In *Clark*, the issue was whether easement language limited the subdivision tract owner of Tract 15 in the Pipestone Subdivision from using only one of the two access roads in the subdivision. *Clark*, ¶¶ 2, 9. Again, the Court narrowly concluded that Tract 15's owner could use both roads because, pursuant to the conveyance

---

8. For example, such invitees would include social invitees as well as "utility company service vehicles, contractors employed to build and repair a residential home, and other types of services that are necessities required to support the home." See *Picardi v. Zimmiond*, 693 N.W.2d 656, 664 (S.D. 2005).

documents, it was clear that the subdivision developer “contemplated that all tract owners would have access to their property over the roads as built.” *Id.*, ¶¶ 27, 35.

In *Woods*, the Woodses objected to the Shannon’s construction of a driveway over an ingress and egress easement on an existing road in the Arrow Islands Subdivision. *Woods*, ¶¶ 3-4. Acting pro se, the Woodses filed a petition for injunctive relief. *Id.*, ¶ 5. The Woodses argued that the Shannon’s use for “ingress and egress” was “ambiguous because it does not address such issues as whether Shannon’s *family members* may use the easement and what types of vehicles may be driven on the easement.” *Id.*, ¶ 13, 16 (emphasis added). The Court disagreed under the specific factual circumstances and the narrow question presented in that case. *Id.*, ¶ 14 (citing *Clark*, ¶ 27).

The Court held that the Shannon’s residential ingress and egress easement was “not open to use by the general public,” but that Shannon’s “family, tenants, and invitees” could use the road as long as the use “does not inflict unreasonable damage or unreasonably interfere with the enjoyment” of the Woodses property. *Id.*, ¶ 15.

In doing so, the Court cited the Restatement, Illustration 1:

1. There is an easement appurtenant to Whiteacre for ingress and egress over a private road crossing Blackacre. In the absence of other facts or circumstances, *Able*, the owner of Whiteacre, and *Able's* family, tenants, and invitees, are entitled to use the road 24 hours a day by any form of transportation that does not inflict unreasonable damage or unreasonably interfere with the enjoyment of Blackacre.

*Id.* (citing Restatement, § 4.10 (emphasis added)).

However, in this case, this Court has not been asked to declare whether H2S2's family, tenants, or invitees are entitled to use the Easement for uses associated with ordinary residential use. Rather, the question is whether H2S2 can use the Easement to access and operate BaseGlamp, a commercial lodging campground open to use by the general public. (Doc. 71, ¶ 3) For the purposes of that particular question, the Easement is general in nature and the District Court properly looked to the situation of the property, surrounding circumstances, and historical use to determine that H2S2's use of the Easement for BaseGlamp was not within the scope of the grant.

**B. The District Court Correctly Determined that BaseGlamp is a Revolutionary Change in Use that Will Unreasonably Overburden the Easement.**

In addition to clearly and correctly finding that H2S2's use of the easement did not fall within the scope of Easement, the District Court found that H2S2's use was a revolutionary, unreasonable change in use that will continue to overburden Baugh's property. (Doc. 132, p. 12) While H2S2 misrepresents the District Court's findings in this regard, the District Court was correct in its conclusions.

“In the absence of clear specifications defining scope no use may be made of a right-of-way different from the use established at the time of the creation of the easement so as to burden the servient estate to a greater extent than was contemplated

at the time the easement was created.” *Guthrie*, ¶ 48. In other words, a change in use by the dominant tenement is only allowed “so long as the changes are ‘evolutionary but not revolutionary.’” *Id.* This Court has also repeatedly held that “a substantial increase in traffic can constitute an impermissible expansion of easement rights.” *Guthrie*, ¶ 53 (relying on *Leffingwell Ranch*). The dominant estate is “not entitled to cause unreasonable damage to the servient estate or interfere unreasonably with its enjoyment.” Restatement, § 4.10.

In this case, it is beyond dispute that the “access and utility” Easement lacks “clear specifications defining scope” with respect to commercial use, nor is it disputed that BaseGlamp is “different from the use established at the time of the creation of the easement.” *Guthrie*, ¶ 48. H2S2 bought Tract 2 – a rural, remote, single family residential property in October of 2020 and, less than six months later, changed the manner of use to a commercial campground once it began construction of BaseGlamp. (Doc. 65, Exs. 8, 17, 19; Doc. 65, Second Affidavit of Craig Baugh, ¶¶ 4, 11, 15; Doc. 104, Ex. 41, pp. 37, 42)

When H2S2 bought Tract 2, the existing road easement was a winding, two-track gravel road less than 14 feet wide, significantly less than the 60’ wide easement that once existed on another portion of Baugh’s property, all of which is evidence of the fact that the original parties to the easement did not contemplate substantial traffic or intend that the Easement could be enlarged. (Doc. 65, Exs. 2, 20; Doc. 65,

Ex. 10, H2S2 Depo., Tr, p.153) However, the increase in traffic related to the construction of BaseGlamp has already resulted in multiple trespass incidents as well as a substantial increase in dust, noise, garbage, and weeds on Tract 1, which has damaged Baugh and unreasonably interfered with Baugh's peaceful enjoyment of his property. (Doc. 65, Second Affidavit of Craig Baugh, ¶¶ 17-21, 23, 28, 31, 33, 40; Doc. 65, Exs. 12-14, 16, 18, 20; Doc. 65.01 to -04, Ex. 21; Doc. 65.06, Ex. 28)

H2S2's abnormal development is ongoing, as it plans to host large events on Tract 2 and likely expand BaseGlamp. (Doc. 104, Ex. 41, p.61) The change from a property developed with a barn converted to single-family home to a commercial development of 12-32 lodging units, is clearly an abrupt, revolutionary, and abnormal change in use that is impermissible under this Court's precedent.

Further, it is clear that the increase in traffic from four trips per day generated by the single family residence to even the low end calculation of 30 trips per day generated by 12 lodging units as calculated by *both* H2S2's and Baugh's traffic experts – a 7.5 fold increase in traffic – is substantial, significant and contrary to the law governing easements. (Doc. 65.05, Ex. 23, pp.1-2, 5; Doc. 67.10, Ex. 7, p.2)

While H2S2 attempts to rely on *Steed v. Solo*, 2010 MT 264, 358 Mont. 356, 246 P.3d 697 for the first time on appeal, this case does not apply here for at least two reasons. First, *Steed* did not involve a revolutionary and abnormal change in use from a residential use to a commercial use. Second, like *Woods*, the Court found the

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